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MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

When tillage begins, other arts follow. The farmers therefore are thefounders ofhuman civilization.
Daniel Webster, Remarks on Agriculture,457 (Jan 13, 1840).

The question today is whether an Iowa statute that forbids porkprocessors from directly or indirectly
owning, operating, or controllingpork production in the State unconstitutionally discriminates
againstinterstate commerce. Plaintiffs Smithfield Foods, Inc. of Virginia(Smithfield or Smithfield
Foods), Murphy Farms, LLC (Murphy Farms), andPrestage-Stoecker Farms, Inc., bring this suit
against the AttorneyGeneral of the State of Iowa in his official capacity pursuant to42 U.S.C. § 1983.
Plaintiffs are asking the Court to declare therecently amended version of lowa Code § 9H.2 an
unconstitutionalinfringement on interstate commerce. Before the Court is Plaintiffs'motion for
summary judgment on counts I and III of their complaint. TheCourt heard oral argument from both
parties at a December 16, 2002hearing. The matter is fully submitted. For the reasons set forth
below,the Plaintiffs' motion is granted.

[. BACKGROUND
A. These Little Piggies Went to Market — The Parties

Iowa has a long and proud history as the largest hog producing state inAmerica. This trend
continues today. The U.S. Department of Agriculture(USDA) currently credits lowa with twenty-six
percent of the nation'stotal inventory of 58.9 million hogs. NASS Quarterly Hogs and Pigs
6,December 30, 2002. Hogs, in fact, outnumber people in ninety-one oflowa's ninety-nine counties.
As well, over thirteen percent of allAmerican hog operations, and over twenty-five percent of hog
operationswith over 2000 head are found in Iowa. Id. at 21-23. With a twenty-sevenpercent share of
all hogs slaughtered in the U.S. last year, lowa alsodominates the nation in pork processing. Id. at 6.
North Carolina, Iowa'sclosest competitor, trailed Iowa by more than ten percent in total
hoginventory, nine percent in hog operations, seven percent in hogoperations over 2000 head, and
over ten percent in processed hogs.'

Not only does Iowa represent the acme of American pork production andprocessing, but the State
also leads the nation in corn for grainproduction. Iowa's penchant for corn production both
complements andcontributes to the State's pork industry. Feed corn is cheaper in Iowathan in most
other markets. Hog producers, therefore, often ship theirlivestock to Iowa for finishing. Plaintiffs
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assert that, in manyinstances, it is less expensive to ship a feeder pig to Iowa forfinishing than it is to
ship corn from Iowa to the hog. (Complaint ¥ 25).In 2001, approximately 12.9 million slaughter hogs,
feeder pigs, andweaned pigs were shipped to Iowa for finishing and processing fromelsewhere. This
represented approximately forty-eight percent of all suchshipments in the United States. Id. In 2000,
the Towa hog industrygenerated an estimated $2.24 billion in personal income, whichcontributed a
total estimate of $3.37 billion to the gross state productand an estimated 77,000 jobs to the State. Of
the roughly 14.25 millionhogs slaughtered in Iowa pork processing plants last year,
however,approximately ninety-six percent were consumed outside the State.

The first page of Plaintiff Smithfield Foods' 2002 Annual Report boaststhat Smithfield is "the world's
largest pork processor and hog producer."Inherent in this declaration is Smithfield's vertically
integratedbusiness model whereby Smithfield owns both hog production operations andpork
processing facilities. In furtherance of its vertically integratedbusiness model, Smithfield has made
twenty-four business acquisitionssince 1981, including meat processing facilities such as John
Morrell& Co. and Gwaltney of Smithfield, Ltd., and pork producers likeBrown's of Carolina, Circle
Four LLC, Carroll's Foods, Inc., andPlaintiff Murphy Farms, LLC. Smithfield currently processes
twentymillion hogs annually, and is the largest pork processor in the UnitedStates with a twenty-one
percent daily capacity share. As well,Smithfield raises an estimated twelve million hogs annually.

Plaintiff Murphy Farms, LLC is a Delaware corporation with itsprinciple place of business in North
Carolina. As will be explained morefully below, Murphy Farms, LLC was created in 2001 as the
Successor ininterest to Murphy Farms, Inc. In its present form, Murphy Farms ownsalmost half of all
of Smithfield's sows. Murphy Farms is wholly owned bySmithfield Foods.

Plaintiff Prestage-Stoecker Farms, Inc. (Prestage-Stoecker) is an lowacorporation with its principle
place of business in Ames, [owa.Prestage-Stoecker currently owns the lowa based assets of the
formerMurphy Farms, Inc. Prestage-Stoecker operates by contracting with MurphyFarms to
purchase feeder pigs. The feeder pigs are imported to [owa wherePrestage-Stoecker contracts with
260 Iowa farms to finish the hogs ontheir farms using feed, medicines, and other supplies provided
byPrestage-Stoecker. Prestage-Stoecker then sells the finished hogs toIBP, Inc., which ultimately
processes the hogs.” Prestage-Stoeckeroperates by way of agreements with Murphy Farms whereby
Murphy suppliesfeeder pigs, supplies, and all of Prestage-Stoecker's employees. Aswell, Smithfield
currently finances Prestage-Stoecker's lowa operations.

B. These Little Piggies Stayed Home — Factual Background

1. These Little Piggies Had Roast Beef — Smithfield's acquisition of Murphy Farms and the
Prestage-Stoecker Transactions

On September 2, 1999, Smithfield announced its intent to acquire all ofthe capital stock of Murphy
Farms, Inc. (not itself a processor at thetime). Among other things, the acquisition included an eighty
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milliondollar premium for Smithfield to purchase Murphy Farms' Iowa basedassets. On September 3,
1999, the Iowa Attorney General sent Smithfield aletter challenging the transaction as a violation of
Iowa Code §9H.2, which at the time prohibited a pork processor (Smithfield) fromcontracting for hog
care and feeding (ie. production) in lowa if itultimately slaughtered those hogs.® Smithfield
maintained that sinceit did not ultimately slaughter the hogs, which were processed by IBP,Inc., the
acquisition would not violate the statute. In response tocontinued opposition from the Attorney
General's office, Smithfieldmodified the transaction. The lowa Attorney General, however, filed
alawsuit against Smithfield in Iowa District Court in and for HumboldtCounty for a violation of lowa
Code § 9H.2, because he believed thetransaction would give Smithfield, a processor, control over the
MurphyFarms hog producing operations located in Iowa. State of lowa ex rel.Miller v. Smithfield,
Equity No. EQCV 016629.

On January 20, 2000, Stoecker Farms, Inc. was formed under Iowa law asa family farm corporation.
On the same day, Randall Stoecker resigned hisposition as head of the Midwest division of Murphy
Farms, Inc, and wasissued 100 shares of common stock for an initial investment of $10,000.Smithfield
loaned the remainder of the initial investment. Less than amonth later, Murphy Farms, Inc. rehired
Stoecker to manage its non-lowabased Midwest operations. Murphy Farms, Inc., sold its Iowa-based
assetsto Stoecker and assigned its contract with IBP to Stoecker as well.Smithfield then bought the
non-Iowa assets of Murphy Farms, Inc. As notedabove, Murphy Farms then provided out-of-state
feeder pigs to Stoecker,which contracted with Iowa farms for finishing and sold the hogs to IBPfor
processing. Because of Smithfield's ownership position in MurphyFarms, the Attorney General
amended its state court petition to challengethe formation of Stoecker and the transactions as a
"sham".

In May 2001, William Prestage, a former member of Smithfield's board ofdirectors purchased a
fifty-one percent interest in Stoecker, which wasthen renamed to Prestage-Stoecker Farms, Inc. This
purchase was alsochallenged by the Attorney General in its state action as an attempt toget around
the limits of § 9H.2. In February 2002, the Iowa DistrictCourt held that Stoecker's formation was not
a sham and that neitherSmithfield nor Prestage-Stoecker was in violation of § 9H.2.

2. These Little Piggies had None — Amendments to Iowa Code § 9H.2

During the 2000 legislative session, and while the court challengecontinued, the Iowa General
Assembly amended Iowa Code § 9H jeffective July 1, 2004. Senate File 2349 "An Act Prohibiting a
Processorfrom Contracting for the Care and Feeding of Swine in this State, MakingPenalties
Applicable, and Providing an Effective Date." In its firstamended form, § 9H.2 prohibited any
processor from "directly orindirectly contracting for the care and feeding of swine in this state."The
amendment specifically defined "contract for the care and feeding ofswine" to mean "an oral or
written agreement between a person and theowner of swine, under which a person agrees to care for
and feed theowner's swine on the person's premises." Iowa Code § 9H.1 (6A). Theamendment also
expanded an exemption for [owa cooperative associations toincludecooperative corporations
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organized under Iowa Code Ch. 501.

In April 2002, the Iowa General Assembly passed further amendments to§ 9H, also effective July 1,
2004. Senate File 2309. This amendment,unlike the previous amendments, expands the prohibition
on activities byprocessors in lowa to ban financing of anyone who "directly or indirectly"contracts
for swine care and feedings in Iowa. [owa Code §9H.2(b)(1)(b). The amendment also bans processors
from directly orindirectly receiving the net revenue derived from Iowa-based swineoperations or
activities by those who contract for swine care and feedingin the state. § 9H.2(b)(1)(d). As well, the
amendment expands thedefinition of processor to include an individual who holds, or, withinthe past
two years, held, an executive position in a processor entitythat has direct or indirect control of
processing operations valued atover $260 million, § 9H.1(19)(b). Among other things, the
executiveposition provision of the processor definition includes a person who,within the past two
years, held a position on a processor corporation'sboard of directors. Id. Finally, the amendment
raised the penalty forviolation from a total fine of $25,000 to a possible fine of $25,000 perday. §
9H.3(2)(a).

3. And These Little Piggies Cried Wee Wee Wee All the Way to Federal Court

The Iowa Attorney General has advised Plaintiffs that they will besubject to suit and to penalties,
including fines up to $25,000 per day,if they continue their operations after July 1, 2004, when they
willclearly be in violation of the amended statute. In particular, Smithfieldand Murphy Farms will no
longer be able to contract withPrestage-Stoecker or to finance any of its operations.
Prestage-Stoeckerwill no longer be permitted to contract with Iowa farms if it receivesfinancing
from Smithfield. Smithfield filed the present action tochallenge the constitutionality of lowa Code §
9H.2 in its amendedform.

II. SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD

Rule 1 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure mandates that allRules, including Rule 56, "be
construed and administered to secure thejust, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every
action."Accordingly, summary judgment is not a paper trial. "The district court'srole in deciding the
motion is not to sift through the evidence,pondering the nuances and inconsistencies, and decide
whom to believe."Waldridge v. American Hoechst Corp, 24 F.3d 918, 920 (7th Cir. 1994). Ina motion
for in the parties' moving and resistance papers, whether thereis any material dispute of fact that
requires a trial. Anderson v.Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 249-50, 91 L.Ed.2d 202, 106 S.Ct.
2505(1986); 10 Wright, Miller & Kane § 2712, at 574-78. The partiesthen share the burden of
identifying the evidence that will facilitatethis assessment. Waldridge, 24 F.3d at 921.

Summary judgment is properly granted when the record, viewed in thelight most favorable to the

nonmoving party and giving that party thebenefit of all reasonable inferences, shows that there is no
genuineissue of material fact, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as amatter of law.

e www.anylaw.com


https://www.anylaw.com/case/smithfield-foods/s-d-iowa/01-22-2003/SZo2RWYBTlTomsSBAsOb
https://www.anylaw.com/?utm_source=anylaw&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=pdf

SMITHFIELD FOODS
241 F. Supp.2d 978 (2003) | Cited 0 times | S.D. lowa | January 22, 2003

Fed.R.Civ.P. 56(c)); Walsh v. United States, 31 F.3d 696,698 (8th Cir. 1994); United States v. City of
Columbia, 914 F.2d 151, 153(8th Cir. 1990); Woodsmith Publ'g v. Merideth Corp., 904 F.2d 1244,
1247(8th Cir. 1990). The moving party must establish its right to judgmentwith such clarity that there
is no room for controversy. Jewson v. MayoClinic, 691 F.2d 405, 408 (8th Cir. 1982).

The party seeking summary judgment bears the initial burden ofdemonstrating the absence of a
genuine issue of material fact based onthe pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories,
admissions onfile, and affidavits, if any. Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 323(1986); Anderson v.
Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986). Oncethe moving party has carried its burden, the
nonmoving party must gobeyond the pleadings and, by affidavits or by the depositions, answers
tointerrogatories, and admissions on file, designate specific facts showingthat there is genuine issue
for trial. See Fed.R.Civ.P. 56(c),(e);Celotex Corp., 477 U.S. at 322-23; Anderson, 477 U.S. at 257. "[T]he
mereexistence of some alleged factual dispute between the parties will notdefeat a motion for
summary judgment; the requirement is that there be nogenuine issue of material fact." Anderson, 477
U.S. at 247-48. An issueis "genuine," if the evidence is sufficient to persuade a reasonable juryto
return a verdict for the nonmoving party. Id. at 248. "As tomateriality, the substantive law will
identify which facts are material.. . . Factual disputes that are irrelevant or unnecessary will not
becounted." Id.

I1I. DISCUSSION
A. Dormant Commerce Clause Jurisprudence

The Commerce Clause of the United States Constitution provides that"Congress shall have the
power . .. to regulate Commerce . .. among theseveral States." U.S. Const. art. I, § 8. The United
States SupremeCourt has long since recognized that "the Commerce Clause not only grantsCongress
the authority to regulate commerce among the States, but alsodirectly limits the power of the States
to discriminate againstinterstate commerce." New Energy Co. v. Limbach, 486 U.S. 269, 273
(1988)(citing Hughes v. Oklahoma, 441 U.S. 322, 326 (1979); H.P. Hood &Sons, Inc., v. Du Mond, 336
U.S. 525, 534-535 (1949); Welton v.Missouri, 91 U.S. 275 (1876). Often described as the dormant
commerceclause, this "negative" reciprocal of the Commerce Clause proscribes anindividual state
from engaging in economic protectionism throughregulatory schemes crafted "to benefit in-state
economic interests byburdening out-of-state competitors." Limbach, 486 U.S. at 273-274(citations
omitted). When a State's regulatory measures are challengedunder the dormant commerce clause, the
Court's analysis follows atwo-tiered approach. SDDS, Inc. v. State, 47 F.3d 263, 267 (8th Cir.1995).
First, the Court must determine whether the challenged statutediscriminates against out-of-state
interests. Id. "When a state statutedirectly regulates or discriminates against interstate commerce, or
whenits effect is to favor in-state economic interests over out of stateinterests, [the Supreme Court
has| generally struck down the statutewithout further inquiry." Brown-Forman Distiller's Corp. v.
New YorkState Liquor Auth., 476 U.S. 573, 579 (1986) (citations omitted).Discrimination may occur in
one of three possible forms. Id. The text ofthe statute may exhibit facial discrimination against

e www.anylaw.com


https://www.anylaw.com/case/smithfield-foods/s-d-iowa/01-22-2003/SZo2RWYBTlTomsSBAsOb
https://www.anylaw.com/?utm_source=anylaw&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=pdf

SMITHFIELD FOODS
241 F. Supp.2d 978 (2003) | Cited 0 times | S.D. lowa | January 22, 2003

foreign interests.Id. (citing Philadelphia v. New Jersey,437 U.S. 617 (1978)). A statutemight be facially
neutral, but will still be struck down if theregulation has a discriminatory purpose. SDDS, 47 F.3d at
267 (citingHunt v. Washington State Apple Advertising Comm'n, 432 U.S. 333, 352-53(1977). Lastly, a
discriminatory effect is equally fatal to a faciallyneutral statute. Id. (citing Maine v. Taylor, 477 U.S.
131, 148 n. 19(1986). If the state statute is found to be discriminatory, it issubjected to a strict scrutiny
analysis whereby the act is all but doomedlest the state can prove that the regulatory scheme was
enacted inpursuit of an important state interest, and that the state had no other,non-discriminatory,
means to address the issue. Oregon Waste Sys., Inc.v. Department of Envtl. Quality of the State of
Oregon, 114 S.Ct. 1345,1351 (1994); Hampton Feedlot, Inc. v. Nixon, 249 F.3d 814, 818 (8th Cir.2001).
"State statutes that clearly discriminate against interstatecommerce are routinely struck down unless
the discrimination isdemonstrably justified by a valid factor unrelated to economicprotectionism."
Limbach, 486 U.S. at 274 (citations omitted).

If the Court finds that the challenged statute is not discriminatory,or if the state successfully
advances justification for thediscrimination, the analysis moves to the second phase. Here, the
Courtmust weigh the state's interest against the burden the statute places oninterstate commerce.
"Where the statute regulates even-handedly toeffectuate a legitimate local public interest, and its
effects oninterstate commerce are only incidental, it will be upheld unless theburden imposed on
such commerce is clearly excessive in relation to theputative local benefits." Pike v. Bruce Church,
Inc., 397 U.S. 137(1970). The Supreme Court has noted that "there is no clear lineseparating the
category of state regulation that is virtually per seinvalid under the Commerce Clause, and the
category subject to the Pikev. Bruce Church balancing approach. In either situation the
criticalconsideration is the overall effect of the statute on both local andinterstate activity."
Brown-Forman, 476 U.S. at 579 (citing Raymond MotorTransportation, Inc. v. Rice, 434 U.S. 429,
440-441 (1978)).

B. lowa Code §9H.2
In its present and pertinent form, Iowa Code § 9H.2 reads:
9H.2. Prohibited operations and activities —exceptions

The purpose of this section is to preserve free and private enterprise, prevent monopoly, and also to
protect consumers.

1. Except as provided in subsections 2 through 4, andsection 9H.2A, all of the following apply:
b. For swine, a processor shall not do any of thefollowing:

(1)(a) Directly or indirectly own, control, or operate a swine operation in this state.
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(b) Finance a swine operation in this state or finance a person who directly or indirectly contracts for
the care and feeding of swine in this state. For purposes of subparagraph subdivision (a) and this
subparagraph subdivision, all of the following apply:

(I) "Finance" means an action by a processor to directly or indirectly loan money or to guarantee or
otherwise act as a surety.

(ii) "Finance" or "control" does not include executing a contract for the purchase of swine by a
processor, including but not limited to a contract that contains an unsecured ledger balance or other
price risk sharing arrangement. "Finance" also does not include providing an unsecured open
account or an unsecured loan, if the unsecured open account or unsecured loan is used for the
purchase of feed for the swine and the outstanding amount due by the debtor does not exceed five
hundred thousand dollars. However, the outstanding amount due to support a single swine operation
shall not exceed two hundred fifty thousand dollars.

(c) Obtain a benefit of production associated with feeding or otherwise maintaining swine, by
directly or indirectly assuming a morbidity or mortality production risk, if the swine are fed or
otherwise maintained as part of a swine operation in this state or by a person who contracts for the
care and feeding of swine in this state.

(d) Directly or indirectly receive the net revenue derived from a swine operation in this state or from a
person who contracts for the care and feeding of swine in this state.

(2) Directly or indirectly contract for the care andfeeding of swine in this state.

However, this subparagraph does not apply to a cooperative association organized under chapter 497,
498, 499, or 501, if the cooperative association contracts for the care and feeding of swine with a
member of the cooperative association who is actively engaged in farming. This subparagraph does
not apply to an association organized as a cooperative in which another cooperative association
organized under chapter 497, 498, 499, or 501 is a member, if the association contracts with a member
which is a cooperative association organized under chapter 497, 498, 499, or 501, which contracts for
the care and feeding of swine with a member of the cooperative who is actively engaged in farming.

C. Smithfield's Challenges to Iowa Code § 9H.2

Although Plaintiffs' complaint lists five challenges to lowa Code§ 9H.2, their motion for summary
judgment asks the Court to consideronly counts I and III. Both charges attack the statute under the
firsttier of the analysis. Plaintiffs' first count alleges that lowa Code§ 9H.2 discriminates against
out-of-state interests to the benefit oflowa interests both by its terms and in its intended
effect.Accordingly, Plaintiffs argue that § 9H.2 amounts to nothing morethan economic
protectionism, and that the statute it, therefore, a per seviolation of the dormant commerce clause of
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the United StatesConstitution.
1. Discrimination
a. Plaintiffs' Claim

In support of their claim that § 9H.2 facially discriminatesagainst interstate commerce, Plaintiffs
point to the exemption for lowacooperatives, or foreign cooperatives that contract with
Iowacooperatives or that have an Iowa cooperative in their membership. See§ 9H.2(1)(b)(2). Plaintiffs
argue that it is "beyond cavil that farfrom making vertical integration illegal throughout the state,
Iowa Code§ 9H.2 allows entities organized under Iowa law or that contain anlowacomponent to their
membership to vertically integrate their porkoperations without any statutory constraint or penalty."
(Pl. Brief at8-9). Under the exemption, [owa cooperatives are free to conduct businessin a manner
that will subject Plaintiffs to fines of up to $25,000 perday. The statute's discriminatory treatment of
out-of-state interestsversus in-state cooperative interests, Plaintiffs argue, necessitates theCourt's
application of the strictest level of scrutiny. Furthermore,because the State can offer no legitimate
explanation other than economicprotectionism, Plaintiffs ask the Court to strike down the statute
asunconstitutional.

Plaintiffs also present evidence that they argue evinces adiscriminatory intent, purpose, and effect in
Iowa's enactment of theamended § 9H.2. Most conspicuous, argue Plaintiffs, are comments madeby
Iowa Senate Majority Leader Stewart Iverson, Jr., in a newsletter thatwas published and distributed
on the same day Senator Iverson introducedthe most recent version of § 9H.2 in the General
Assembly. In thenewsletter, Iverson explains that "[i]n response to a recent Iowa courtdecision that
let's [sic] Smithfield Foods finance an Iowa-based hogproducer, the Iowa Senate will consider
legislation this week to protectfarmers from large meatpacking firms." (Complaint Y 95)
(reprintingStewart Iverson, Jr., Iverson's Insights: Protecting Iowa Farmers fromMeat Processors,
(Mar. 4, 2002). Plaintiffs argue that Senator Iverson'sdeclaration clearly demonstrates that Iowa
amended § 9H.2 with anintent and purpose to effectively exclude Smithfield and otherout-of-state
interests from the Iowa pork industry.

Plaintiffs also point to an advertising supplement for Iowa 2010: AStrategic Planning Initiative, a
comprehensive plan for the State'sfuture that was complied through the initiative of lowa Governor
ThomasVilsack. The supplement, which was paid for by the Governor's StrategicPlanning Council,
states that:

[algriculture is the soul of Iowa, but its long-term growth rate is less than half the rate of other
industries. The reliance on traditional agricultural commodities and markets will shrink as the forces
of an integrated world economy continue a 30-year downward spiral of raw commodity prices.
Research suggests this will be especially true for food prices as production rates increase in emerging
market countries. Open markets for commodity crops will diminish in favor of highly integrated
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systems driven by consumer demand. While dramatically altering the face of traditional farming
practices, these changes provide a unique opportunity for lowa to reinvent agriculture and its role in
feeding the world.

Iowa 2010 — The New Face of lowa: Embracing Iowa's Values —Shaping Iowa's Future, 4 (2000
advertising supplement).

Additionally, Plaintiffs note that Iowa 2010 has as one of its statedgoals that Iowa will be "known as
the consumer-driven life sciencecapital of the world, aligning producers with consumers,
diversifying theagricultural economy and increasing farm income." Plaintiffs argue thatlowa 2010
provides ample evidence of the fact that Iowa realizes theeconomical benefits of a vertically
integrated pork industry, and that byamending § 9H.2, lowa sought to preserve these benefits for
Iowansalone.

Moreover, Plaintiffs argue that the lowa Code actually codifies apublic policy directive advocating
discriminatory and protectionistregulatory schemes such as Iowa Code § 9H.2. In passing the
IowaAgricultural Industry Finance Act, the General Assembly found "that thisstate is in a period
when the economic structure ofagriculture and theproduction, processing, and marketing of
agricultural products isundergoing a period of rapid transformation." Iowa Code § 15E.203(1)(1998).
Following the legislature's findings, the Act states in pertinentpart:

It is the intent of the general assembly and purpose of this division that this state capture the
greatest benefit from opportunities created during this period, by encouraging local agricultural
producer-led ventures to expand production and processing of high value agricultural products,
including agricultural processed products, to organize new business structures within the state to
carry out these ventures, and to market and deliver increasingly high value agricultural products to
consumers around the world. In carrying out this purpose, state resources . .. shall be used to assure
all of the following:

a. That the majority of the wealth created by lowa agricultural productivity is retained in this state.

c. That agricultural producers in this state are provided with an opportunity to acquire a majority
ownership interest in Iowa agricultural industry ventures promoted under this division.

d. That this state becomes a world model for agricultural producer-based vertical cooperation which
depends upon broadly shared access to information, capital, and cooperative action.

Iowa Code § 15E.203(2) (emphasis added).

Plaintiffs contend that § 9H.2 unconstitutionally furthers anofficial and discriminatory state policy to
ensure "that the majority ofthe wealth created by Iowa agricultural productivity is retained in
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thisstate." lowa Code § 15E.203(2)(a). The intent and effect of §9H.2, argue Plaintiffs, "is to eliminate
Smithfield from doing businessin Iowa and allow only lowa cooperative associations or
regionalcooperatives with at least one such Iowa entity as an owner contractingwith Iowa residents
to benefit from the vertical integration businessmodel." (Complaint Y 132). Plaintiffs argue that Iowa,
through §9H.2, seeks to ensure that only Iowans can practice Smithfield'svertically integrated
business model in Iowa. Thus, because the Actfacially, in effect, and in purpose discriminates against
out-of-stateentities with no justification other than economic protectionism,Plaintiffs ask the Court
to strike down § 9H.2 as a per se violationof the dormant commerce clause.

b. In Defense of § 9H.2

The State offers several arguments to refute Plaintiffs contention that§ 9H.2 facially discriminates
against extra-state entities. First,Jlowa argues that § 9H.2 does not facially discriminate because
thelaw makes no distinction between in-state and out-of-state swineprocessors, but that the law
applies universally to all processors.Defendant also defends the Act's cooperative exemption as
legally sound,because "if a cooperative does not have an affiliate organized under Iowalaw, then the
cooperative does not conduct business in the state of lowaand therefore would not be affected by the
statute. Since Iowa lawcontains no requirement that a non-Iowa cooperative be physically presentin
Iowa in order to be organized under Iowa law, § 9H.2 does notdiscriminate between Iowa and
non-lowa cooperatives." (Defendant's Briefat 4). Next, lowa argues that "the unique treatment of
cooperatives iswidely recognized." Id. In support of its claim, the State points tofederal laws
exempting agricultural cooperatives from federal antitrust,tax, and securities laws. Id. at 6 (citing the
Clayton Act,15 U.S.C. § 17 (antitrust); the Capper-Volstead Act,7 U.S.C. § 291-92 (antitrust); I.R.C.§
521(b) (tax); and15 U.S.C. § 781 (g)(2)(E)-(F) (security registration).

Iowa also contends that the legislature's purpose in passing §9H.2, and the act's intended effect, was
legitimate and notdiscriminatory. The stated purpose of § 9H.2 is "to preserve free andprivate
enterprise, prevent monopoly, and also to protect consumers." TheState argues that Smithfield has
failed to prove that the legislature hadany purpose other than that which it put into the text of the
Act. In sodoing, the State contends that the Court must adhere to Iowa'sestablished standards of
statutory construction; unless the terms of thestatute are ambiguous, Iowa law requires that the
Court give the languageof the statute its plain and rational meaning. Lemars Mut. Ins. Co. oflowa v.
Bonnecroy, 304 N.W.2d 422, 424 (Iowa 1981). lowa argues that theexpress statement of purpose in §
9H.2 is unambiguous, and,therefore, that the Court's inquiry into the legislature's purpose andintent
in enacting the statute may extend no further than the text of thestatute. In light of an express and
unambiguous statement of purpose, theState contends that any evidence of discriminatory legislative
intentimbued in Iowa 2010, or ITowa Code § 15E.203 is irrelevant andinadmissible in the Court's
determination. Accordingly, if the Courtrestricts its inquiry to the unambiguous terms of § 9H.2, the
Stateargues that there exists no evidence of a discriminatory legislativeintent, purpose, or effect.
Although Iowa's defense of its regulatoryscheme is noble, the Court cannot agree with any of the
State's proffereddefenses.
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c. Analysis

After careful consideration, the Court is left with but oneconclusion, Iowa Code § 9H.2, on its face, in
its purpose, and in itseffect unconstitutionally discriminates against out-of-state interests infavor of
local ones. Although Iowa argues that the statute is faciallyneutral, this is not the case.
"Discrimination," as the term is used incommerce clause considerations, means "differential
treatment of in-stateand out-of-state economic interests that benefits the former and burdensthe
latter." Hampton Feedlot, 249 F.3d at 818 (quoting Oregon WasteSys., Inc. v. Dep't of Evntl. Quality,
511 U.S. 93, 99 (1994)). Here,§ 9H.2 narrowly tailors its prohibitions to cast a wide net
aroundPlaintiffs' economic activities, all the while reserving the sameeconomic activities for lowa
cooperatives or cooperatives with an lowacomponent.

Iowa argues that § 9H.2 is facially neutral because Iowa law doesnot require that a business need not
actually be present in Iowa toorganize itself as a cooperative, and because the act
appliesevenhandedly to all entities, other than cooperatives, because itprohibits all processors from
owning livestock. The Court finds neitherargument compelling. A cooperative organized under lowa
law is an Towaentity regardless of where the entity is physically located. C.f. Kollsv. Aetna Cas. and
Surety Co., 378 F. Supp. 392, 393 (S.D.lowa 1974)(deeming an lowa corporation to be a citizen of
Iowa), aff'd, 503 F.2d 569(8th Cir. 1974). The fact that the exemption applies only tocooperatives, and
that § 9H.2, therefore, evenhandedly applies to allother Iowa and out-of-state interests, cannot be the
Act's saving grace.An "ordinance is no less discriminatory because in-state or in-townprocessors are
also covered by the prohibition." C & A Carbone, Inc.v. Clarkstown, 511 U.S. 383, 391 (1994). Thus, a
showing that the Statefavors only in-state cooperatives over all other business entities doesnothing
to obviate the fact that the statute blatantly protects therights of lowans to engage inconduct
forbidden to out-of-state entitiessuch as Plaintiffs. When, as here, a statute clearly
prohibitsout-of-state entities from conducting business in a certain way, and thenexpressly exempts
in-state entities from the very same prohibitions,there can be no mistake that such a regulatory
scheme treats in-state andout-of-state interests differently.

Iowa's argument that agricultural cooperatives often enjoy differentialtreatment under federal law
than do other business entities is also of noavail. lowa overlooks one important consideration;
Congress has the powerto regulate interstate commerce, and, in so doing, to discriminate
amongdifferent entities in matters of interstate commerce. The dormantcommerce clause precludes
the state of lowa from exercising the samepower. Thus, the fact that federal antitrust, tax, and
securities lawsprovide a different standard for cooperatives is irrelevant to a dormantcommerce
challenge to a State law. Iowa, however, also cites the Court tothe Supreme Court's opinion in Tigner
v. Texas, 310 U.S. 141 (1940), tovalidate the cooperative exemption. In Tigner, the Court rejected
ahabeas corpus appeal challenging a Texas antitrust criminal law thatexempted farmers, stockmen,
and farmer cooperatives. Id. at 143-49. InTigner, however, the Court upheld the challenged statute
under equalprotection grounds. The Court never mentioned the dormant commerceclause. And
while an economic regulation elicits the lowest level ofscrutiny -mere rationality- when reviewed
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under an equal protectionframework, the same law, if found to be discriminatory, will be subjectedto
a strict scrutiny analysis when challenged under the dormant commerceclause. Thus, Tigner is not
instructive in the present case. As the Courtfinds that § 9H.2 facially discriminates against
out-of-stateinterests in favor of local ones, the Court must, therefore, review thelaw using a strict
scrutiny analysis.

Finally, the State argues that although the Court has found thecooperative exemption discriminatory,
the Court may still sever theoffending provision and leave the remainder of the Act in full force
andeffect. As Defendant notes, lowa Code chapter 9H contains a severabilityclause that expresses the
legislature's intent that if any portion of theAct is found invalid, the invalidity should not affect the
law's otherprovisions. As severability is unquestionably a matter of state law, seeJones v. Vilsack, 272
F.3d 1030, 1038 (8th Cir. 2001) (quoting Leavitttv. Jane L., 518 U.S. 137, 139 (1996)), Defendant reminds
the Court thatlowa law favors severance of invalid statutory provisions. Id. In Iowa,"there is no
presumption that the legislature intends its statutes to betreated as an entirety." Clark v. Miller, 503
N.W.2d 422, 425 (Iowa1993). "Severance is appropriate if it does not substantially impair
thelegislative purpose, if the enactment remains capable of fulfilling theapparent legislative intent,
and if the remaining portion of the enactmentcan be given effect without the invalid provision." Am.
Dog OwnersAss'n, Inc. v. City of Des Moines, 469 N.W.2d 416, 418 (Ilowa 1991) (percuriam). In the
present case, however, simply severing the cooperativeexemption from § 9H.2 does not remedy the
statute's defects. Asdiscussed below, the Act was passed with a discriminatory purpose toeffect a
discriminatory result. Accordingly, while severing thecooperative exemption might cure some of the
facial defects, the Act'sdiscriminatory purpose and effect persist. Severability is, therefore,not an
option.

The Court finds that § 9H.2 is not only facially discriminatory,but that, as a matter of law, the lowa
General Assembly enacted §9H.2 with a discriminatory intent and purpose. As Defendant notes,
thestated purpose of § 9H.2 is to "preserve free and privateenterprise, prevent monopoly, and also to
protect consumers." Iowa Code§ 9H.2. As noted above, the State contends that this clear
andunambiguous statement of legislative purpose precludes any furtherinquiry into legislative
intent. This is erroneous. "When considering thepurpose of a challenged statute, [the] Court is not
bound by '[tlhe name,description or characterization given it by the legislature or the courtsof the
State, but will determine for itself the practical impact of thelaw." Waste Systems Corp., v.
Minnesota, 985 F.2d 1381, 1387 (8th Cir.1993) (quoting Hughes v. Oklahoma, 441 U.S. at 336 (quoting
Lacoste v.Louisiana Dep't of Conservation, 263 U.S. 545, 550 (1924))). The Court,therefore, must
consider all relevant evidence in determining whether§ 9H.2 was enacted for a discriminatory
purpose or with adiscriminatory effect.

Evidence that the Iowa legislature amended § 9H.2 to specificallydiscriminate against Smithfield as
an out-of-state processor can be nomore direct than Senator Iverson's comment that "[i]n response to
arecent lowa court decision that let's [sic] Smithfield Foods finance anlowa-based hog producer, the
Iowa Senate will consider legislation thisweek to protect farmers from large meatpacking firms."
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Moreover, lowacertainly understands the economic opportunities available in avertically integrated
pork market. The advertising supplement for lowa'slong term plan, Iowa 2010, illustrates both the
State's recognition ofthe trend towards a vertically integrated agriculture industry, and itsdesire to
reap the benefits of this evolution for [owa farmers. Iowa lawreiterates that Iowa public policy seeks
to ensure "[t|hat the majorityof the wealth created by Iowa agricultural productivity is retained inthis
state." Iowa Code § 15E.203(2). Viewed individually, none ofthese facts conclusively demonstrate that
the Towa legislature had adiscriminatory purpose in enacting the amended § 9H.2. Whenconsidered
collectively, however, and in conjunction with the terms of Chapter 9H, the undeniable conclusion is
that the State amended the Actwith a discriminatory purpose to achieve a discriminatory effect.
TheConstitution tolerates neither.

As amended, Iowa Code Chapter 9H imposes a death sentence onSmithfield's Iowa business like a
modern day bill of attainder. That thelaw specifically targets Plaintiffs is incontestable. For example,
inamending the definition of processor to include a person who has held anexecutive position in a
processor company with an annual wholesale valueof 260 million dollars or more, the State might as
well have namedRandall Stoecker and William Prestage. See Iowa Code § 9H.1(19)(b).In fact,
Plaintiffs' allege that this provision was widely and jocularlyreferred to by some legislators as the
"Stoecker Amendment."(Complaint ¥ 103). The intended effect is clear; Iowa has sought toensure
that Plaintiffs are unable to conduct their business in the stateof Iowa. Accordingly, the Court finds
that the purpose and intended effectof § 9H discriminates against interstate commerce.

Having concluded that Towa Code § 9H.2 discriminates againstinterstate commerce on its face, in
purpose, and in effect, the Court nowreviews the statute under the strict scrutiny framework. "Under
strictscrutiny, a state statuteviolates the Commerce Clause unless the statecan show that the statute
serves a legitimate local purpose unrelated toeconomic protectionism and that the purpose could not
be served as wellby nondiscriminatory means." Cotto Waxo Co. v. Williams, 46 F.3d 790, 794(8th Cir.
1995) (citing Hughes, 441 U.S. at 336). lowa maintains that thestated purpose of § 9H.2, "to preserve
free and private enterprise,prevent monopoly, and also to protect consumers," is a legitimate
localpurpose, and not economic protectionism. The Court deeply sympathizes withlowa's attempt to
protect its family farmers, and certainly agrees thatthese are noble purposes. The Court, however,
has already concluded thatthis stated purpose is disingenuous. Rather, the evidence makes clearthat
the State enacted § 9H.2 with an eye towards nothing more thanprotecting local economic interests
from out-of-state behemoth SmithfieldFoods. Moreover, the proffered statement of purpose does
nothing topreserve the Act from a Commerce Clause challenge. As Justice Jacksonwrote:

Our system, fostered by the Commerce Clause, is that every farmer and every craftsman shall be
encouraged to produce by the certainty that he will have free access to every market in the Nation,
that no home embargoes will withhold his exports, and no foreign state will by customs duties or
regulations exclude them. Likewise, every consumer may look to the free competition from every
producing area in the Nation to protect him from exploitation by any. Such was the vision of the
Founders; such has been the doctrine of this Court which has given it reality.
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H.P. Hood & Sons, Inc. v. Du Mond, 336 U.S. 525, 539 (1949).

Thus, by claiming to "preserve free and private enterprise, preventmonopoly, and also to protect
consumers," the State of lowa purports toeffectuate precisely the sort of discriminatory scheme
against which theCommerce Clause was conceived to protect all citizens of this country. Aslowa can
offer no justifiable explanation for its patently discriminatoryregulation, the State cannot overcome
its burden under the strictscrutiny analysis. The Court, therefore, holds that because Iowa Code§
9H.2 discriminates against interstate commerce on its face, in itseffect, and in its purpose for no
reason other than economicprotectionism, the Act violates the Commerce Clause of the United
StatesConstitution.

D. Extraterritorial Effect

Plaintiffs' third count challenges § 9H.2 as an extraterritorialregulation of interstate commerce.
Anytime a State enacts regulatorymeasures that have the effect of regulating commerce beyond the
bordersof the state, the statute must be stricken as an unconstitutionalusurpation of one of Congress'
plenary authorities. Thus, Smithfieldagain argues that § 9H.2 is a per se violation of the
dormantcommerce clause. Because the Court has already determined that § 9H.2unconstitutionally
discriminates against interstate commerce, the Courtsees no need to address Plaintiffs'
extraterritorial effect challenge.

IV. ORDER

The Court is keenly aware that this order and opinion substantiallyresolves Plaintiffs' prayer for
relief, and that there is presently noneed to continue this litigation to address Plaintiffs' other
claims.Thus, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1292(b), the Court is of the opinionthat the foregoing order
involves a controlling question of lawas to which there is substantial ground for difference of opinion
and thatan immediate appeal from the order may materially advance the ultimatetermination of the
litigation.

Accordingly, the United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuitmay, within its discretion,
permit an appeal to be taken from this orderif application is made to it within ten days after entry of
the order.Plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment is granted on Count I.Plaintiffs' motion on Count
III is moot. The Court holds that Iowa Code§ 9H.2 is unconstitutional on its face, in its intended
purpose, andas applied to Plaintiffs under Art. I § 8 of the United StatesConstitution. The Court
hereby declares Iowa Code § 9H.2 null andvoid, and orders the Defendant and the State of Iowa to
strike the lawfrom its books. Defendant and the State of Iowa are permanently enjoinedfrom
enforcing any provision of the law.

1. At the same time, North Carolina, home state of Defendant MurphyFarms, leads the nation in hog operations over 5000
head. NASS QuarterlyHogs and Pigs 23, December 30, 2002. Hog operations with over 5000 headaccount for a full 53

e www.anylaw.com


https://www.anylaw.com/case/smithfield-foods/s-d-iowa/01-22-2003/SZo2RWYBTlTomsSBAsOb
https://www.anylaw.com/?utm_source=anylaw&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=pdf

SMITHFIELD FOODS
241 F. Supp.2d 978 (2003) | Cited 0 times | S.D. lowa | January 22, 2003

percent of the total U.S. hog inventory, and the110 nationwide operations with over 50,000 head control an astonishing

49percent of the country's swine inventory. Id. at 23, 25.

2. The short life of a Smithfield pig is actually quite hectic. Thepigs are born after a 114 day gestation. The piglets then
remain with thesow for 17 days at which time their shared immunity wanes, and the pigsare removed to a nursery to
discourage illness. After seven weeks andfour different diets, the burgeoning 40-50 pound piglets clamber ontotrucks for
the long road trip from North Carolina to Iowa. Upon reachingtheir destination at the feeder farm of their choosing, the
pigs areagain fed four different diets for around 140 days. The pigs, nowweighing between 245-260 pounds, are then sent

to the slaughterhouse forprocessing. The cycle is less than a year from conception toconsumption.
3. At the time, Iowa Code § 9H.2 read in pertinent part:

In order to preserve free and private enterprise, prevent monopoly, and protect consumers, it is unlawful for any
processor of beef or pork or limited partnership in which a processor holds partnership shares as a general partner or
partnership shares as a limited partner, or limited liability company in which a processor is a member, to own, control or
operate a feedlot in Iowa in which hogs or cattle are fed for slaughter. In addition, a processor shall not directly or

indirectly contract for the care and feeding of swine in this state.
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